
Jenny Wallace
Head of Paid Service
Torridge District Council
Riverbank House
Bideford
Devon
EX39 2QG

DX 53606 BIDEFORD
Tel : Bideford (01237) 428700
Fax : Bideford (01237) 479164

Date: 28 July 2017

TO:  THE CHAIR AND COUNCILLORS OF THE 
TORRIDGE DISTRICT COUNCIL

FULL COUNCIL MEETING
 ON Monday 7 August 2017 at 6.30 pm

NOTICE OF MEETING

You are hereby summoned to the Meeting of the District Council at the
aforementioned date and time

Head of Paid Service

Members are requested to turn off their mobile phones for the duration of the 
meeting.

P R A Y E R S 

For those who wish to participate - Prayers will be held at 6.25 pm.

A G E N D A

1.  APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE 
To receive apologies for absence from the meeting

2.  COUNCIL MINUTES (Pages 4 - 12)
Confirmation of the Minutes of the Meeting of the Council held on 26 June 2017.

3.  PUBLIC CONTRIBUTIONS 
15 minute period for public contributions



- 2 -

4. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

Members with interests to declare should refer to the Agenda item and describe the 
nature of their interest when the item is being considered.

5.  AGREEMENT OF AGENDA ITEMS PART I AND II 

6.  TO CONSIDER CORRESPONDENCE OR OTHER BUSINESS ESPECIALLY 
BROUGHT FORWARD BY THE DIRECTION OF THE CHAIR 

7.  TO ANSWER QUESTIONS SUBMITTED UNDER PROCEDURAL RULE A9 

8.  NORTHAM PARISH NEIGHBOURHOOD AREA DESIGNATION (Pages 13 - 21)
To receive the report of the Planning Manager.

9.  ANNUAL REPORT ON TREASURY MANAGEMENT 16/17 (Pages 22 - 27)
To receive the report of the Strategic Manager (Resources).

10.  RIPA POLICY (Pages 28 - 50)
To receive the report of the Senior Solicitor.

11.  TRANSFORMING TORRIDGE PROGRAMME - PROGRESS REPORT (Pages 51 - 65)
To receive the report of the Senior Solicitor.

12.  ALLOCATION OF SEATS & MEMBERSHIP OF COMMITTEES (Pages 66 - 67)
To receive the report of the Senior Solicitor.

13.  PETITIONS 
To receive petitions (if any)

14.  NOTICES OF MOTION 

15.  EXCLUSION OF PUBLIC 
The Chair to move:

“That the public be excluded from the remainder of the meeting because of the likely 
disclosure of exempt information as defined in Schedule 12A of the Local Government 
Act 1972”

16.  PART II - (CLOSED SESSION) 

Items which may be taken in the absence of the public and press on the grounds that 
exempt information may be disclosed.

17.  REGENERATION OF EAST-THE-WATER WHARVES (Pages 68 - 70)
To receive the report of the Senior Solicitor.

Meeting Organiser:  Democratic Services Tel. 01237 428703



1

TORRIDGE DISTRICT COUNCIL

MEETING OF THE COUNCIL

Monday, 26 June 2017 - 6.30 pm

PRESENT: Councillor J Himan (Chair)
Councillor S Inch (Vice Chair)

Councillors D Brenton, M Brown, K Carroll, P Christie, R Darch, 
A Dart, K Davis, A Eastman, Z Gregorek, P Hackett, R Hicks, 
D Hurley, T Inch, K James, T Johns, R Julian, P Le Maistre, 
J Leaper, R Lock, D McGeough, J Morrish, P Pennington, 
C Simmons, P Watson, J Whittaker and R Wiseman

ALSO PRESENT: J Wallace, Head of Paid Service
S Hearse, Strategic Manager (Resources)
S Kearney, Commercial & Leisure Services Manager
S Dorey, Solicitor
M Richards, Democratic Services Officer
T Vanstone, Democratic Services Officer
D Burgess, Senior Planning Policy Officer
D Green, Planning Manager
A Redwood, Property and Procurement Manager
H Roper, Service Improvement Officer
I Rowland, Senior Planning Policy Officer

16 members of the public

1.   APOLOGIES 

Apologies for absence were received from Councillors Boundy, Boyle, Dezart, 
Langmead, Langton-Lockton, Parker and Robinson.

2.   COUNCIL MINUTES 

It was proposed by Councillor Le Maistre, seconded by Councillor Lock and -

Resolved:   That the minutes of the meeting held on 15 May  be confirmed as a 
correct record and signed by the Chair.

(Vote: For 27, Abstention 1) 

3.   PUBLIC CONTRIBUTIONS 

With the permission of the Chair, Mr A Mounce addressed the meeting with regard 
to the Local Plan.  He spoke about the removal from the Local Plan of 5 plots at 
Staddon Road, Appledore.  He stated that the removal of the 5 plots at Staddon 

Page 3

Agenda Item 2



2

Road had been at the request of a member of the public at the end of the Local 
Plan consultation meeting and that the Inspector had visited the site thereafter.

He referenced other sites in Appledore for comparison. 

The Chair thanked Mr Mounce for his contribution.

Mrs A Brenton addressed the Committee on a highways issue, asking when the 
public will be informed of the extent of the intended works to the Torridge and 
Bideford Bridges? Was it the intention that the bridges will be closed? How will this 
affect the people of Bideford?

The Chair thanked Mrs Brenton and advised that a written response would follow.

4.   TO CONSIDER CORRESPONDENCE OR OTHER BUSINESS ESPECIALLY 
BROUGHT FORWARD BY THE DIRECTION OF THE CHAIR 

The Chair stated that the voting process needed to be improved.  He asked that 
Members clearly indicate their vote for, against or abstention, by a proper show of 
hands.  If numbers did not tally, the vote would be taken again.

Secondly, the Chair reminded Members that if they were unable to attend a 
meeting they should submit their apologies to Democratic Services and attempt to 
find a substitute.

AGREEMENT BETWEEN PARTS I AND PART II

It was proposed by Councillor S Inch, seconded by Councillor Watson and –

Resolved:    That the Agenda as circulated be agreed.

(Vote: For 23, Against 3, Abstention 2)

The Chair welcomed the new Ward Member for Hartland and Bradworthy.  
Councillor Leaper introduced herself.

5.   TO ANSWER QUESTIONS SUBMITTED UNDER PROCEDURAL RULE A9 

There were no questions submitted under Procedural Rule A9.

6.   PRESENTATION BY LEADER5 

The Chair invited Louise Adams, ND+, to deliver her presentation on the Leader5 
Programme.

Ms Adam opened her presentation by stating that the EU funding to the tune of 
€2.383M was a great opportunity to support local businesses and organisations in 
the area, bringing with it economic growth, jobs and capital investment.  The 

Page 4



3

programme had been due to run until 2020 but Brexit had brought this forward to 
2019. 

Ms Adams highlighted the priority sectors and gave details of the budget and the 
application process, adding that the application process took approximately 4 
months.

The budget amounts were indicative amounts which had been put together at the 
beginning of the delivery plan and the Rural Payments Agency had stipulated that 
the projects must increase jobs.  However, if there were increased applications and 
budgets lines exceeded, there was an opportunity to move between budget lines.

Ms Adams advised that fishing sat outside of the parameters of the programme.  
However, recreational fishing might well be picked up within tourism.  Details of 
such businesses should be forwarded to Ms Adam.

New businesses could also apply.  They were required to put together a business 
and trading account for 3 years or to provide a robust business plan.

Councillors’ questions raised in respect of the presentation were duly responded to.

The Chair thanked Ms Adams for the first class presentation.

7.   ALLOCATION OF SEATS TO POLITICAL GROUPS & MEMBERSHIP OF 
COMMITTEES 

The Head of Paid Service asked Committee Members to consider the report on the 
allocation of seats to political groups & membership of committees.  There had 
been some changes which had meant proportionality had to be recalculated.  
These changes had been presented to and agreed by Group Leaders.

The Leader of the Council added that the Group Leaders were in agreement with 
the number of seats.  However, there was a problem with membership of 
committees.   The Standards Committee had recommended to Councillor Brenton’s 
Group Leader that Councillor Brenton be removed from Torridge District Council’s 
Standards Committee.  Councillor Brenton had declined to step down and as a 
result, Members of the Standards Committee  had refused to hold meetings if 
Councillor did not stand down.  The Leader of the Council asked Councillor Brenton 
to reconsider.

Councillor Brenton responded that there was a legal obligation to have a Standards 
Committee.  It had been the recommendation of the Standards Committee that he 
be removed from Torridge District Council’s Standards Committee.  It had been a 
recommendation, not a diktat.  

Reference was made to the history behind the issue and further discussion ensued.

It was proposed by Councillor Morrish, seconded by Councillor A Inch and –

Resolved:

Page 5



4

That number of seats on the Committees allocated to each of the Political
Groups as detailed in this report be approved.

That Membership of each of the Council’s Committees, as detailed in the report, be 
approved with the exception of the Standards Committee.

(Vote: For - unanimous)

8.   NORTH DEVON+ BOARD MEMBERSHIP 

The Commercial & Leisure Services Manager reported that Torridge District 
Council was entitled to 3 seats on the Board of Directors of North Devon+.  
Members had already agreed to the appointment of the Head of Paid 
Service as Joint Chief Executive Officer of North Devon+.  

Members were now asked to decide which two Councillors should also be 
appointed by the Council to the Board of ND+ as Directors.

It was proposed by Councillor Watson, seconded by Councillor Morrish and 
– 

Resolved:

That Councillor Whittaker be appointed as a Director to the Board of ND+.

It was proposed by Councillor Whittaker, seconded by Councillor Watson 
and – 

Resolved:

That Councillor Hurley be appointed as a Director to the Board of ND+.

(Vote: For 27, Abstention 1)

9.   JOINT LOCAL PLAN 

The Lead Member for Planning extended his thanks to the Planning Manager and 
his staff for the excellent work carried out on the Local Plan.

The Planning Manager asked Committee Members to approve in full the 
recommendations set out in the report.  

A presentation had been included in the agenda which set out how the final Local 
Plan submission had been achieved.  The Planning Manager gave details of the 
process and highlighted the milestones.  Members were informed that the main 
areas of change were:

 The extension of the allocation subject to Policy BID05: 
 Land adjoining the Caddsdown Business Park 

Page 6



5

 An adjustment to the Appledore development boundary to reflect the 
exclusion of a site previously identified as a non-allocated deliverable site at 
Staddon Road. 

If the report were approved it would then go to North Devon’s Full Council on 4 
July.  The report had been ratified by North Devon Full Council in June 2017, 
subject to changes relating to Yelland Quay.  There would then be a consultation 
period of 6 weeks, followed by analysis of the consultation and submission to the 
LPWG and finally submission of comments, analysis and Councils’ responses to 
the Inspector.  

The Planning Manager and Senior Planning Policy Officer responded to 
Councillors’ questions, reinforcing information already given that the local plan 
could be revised at any time.

The Chair of the Plans Committee urged Members to accept the recommendations.

Concerns were raised that Bideford and Barnstaple had roughly the same amount 
of provision for housing yet the planned hectares of employment land were less.  
The Planning Manager responded that the figures had been calculated in 
conjunction with the District Valuer but there were issues of confidentiality 
surrounding the assumptions, although Members were permitted to view the 
working files.  A discussion took place about the inclusion of the proposed Staddon 
Road development and the Senior Planning Policy Officer indicated that this may 
impact on the timetable due to the additional work.

A further concern was registered that environmental issues had been downgraded.

It was proposed by Councillor Hicks and seconded by Councillor Watson –

That: (i) the schedules of proposed Main Modifications  and Additional
Modifications set out in appendicles 1 and 2 be approved;

(ii) consultation on the proposed Main Modifications (appendix 1) be 
authorised;

(iii) authority be delegated to the Planning Manager, in consultation with the 
Lead Member for Planning, to make minor amendments to the Schedule 
of Main and Additional Modifications approved through the above 
recommendation, for the purpose of improving legibility,  the correction of 
any identified errors, or resulting from their consideration and formal 
authorisation for submission by North Devon Council; and

(iv) submission be authorised of the Schedule of Main Modifications, 
together with copies of all duly made representations with related 
analysis and comment, to the Local Plan Inspector, following the 
satisfactory completion of the consultation referred to in recommendation 
(ii) and subject to no further issues being identified that could reasonably 
be considered to impact on the soundness of the Local Plan.

It was proposed by Councillor Morrish, seconded by Councillor Eastman and -

Page 7



6

Resolved:

That the above recommendations be approved with an amendment to include 
addition of the Staddon Road development in the Local Plan.

(Vote: For 14, Against 13, Abstention 1)

Councillor Hicks withdrew his motion.

Councillors Carroll, Brown and Gregorek left the meeting.

10.   TRANSFORMING TORRIDGE PROGRAMME - PROGRESS REPORT 

The Property and Procurement Manager introduced the report.  Works had 
commenced on the main building. However, the mechanical and electrical (M&E) 
consultant originally awarded the work had gone into administration and additional 
costs would be incurred in order to complete the build.  An alternative M&E 
consultant had been identified but they would not warranty the previous design.  

The Committee was asked to approve the appointment of the replacement M&E 
consultants and associated on-costs at an additional cost of £50k.

A breakdown of the additional £50k was given.

The Property and Procurement Manager gave details of the revised design / 
alternative layout for the Customer Hub, which represented a more operationally 
effective solution for the services involved and particularly for the customer 
interaction.

Councillors asked whether the originally proposed savings were still going to be 
achieved.  The Strategic Manager (Resources) replied that the vacation of Bridge 
Buildings contributed to the proposed savings and the delay in this area had meant 
the savings had not yet been achieved.  The new building will be cheaper to 
operate than Bridge Buildings due to modern design and up to date heating 
systems etc. Some of the savings were also built in based on assumptions on the 
future use of Bridge Buildings, which Members will have to decide upon at a later 
Committee meeting. 

Concerns were expressed that with design features changing there was a risk of 
further additional costs spiralling out of control.  The Head of Paid Service stated 
the consensus from previous informal presentations was that the scheme had been 
supported by Members present and she apologised that the views of Councillors 
appeared to have been misunderstood.

The merits of the Transforming Torridge Programme and the plans for Bridge 
Buildings were discussed.

It was proposed by Councillor Whittaker, seconded by Councillor Morrish and – 

Page 8



7

Resolved:

That appointment of replacement M & E consultants at an additional cost of £50k 
be approved.

(Vote: For 23, Abstentions 2)

It was proposed by Councillor Morrish, seconded by Councillor Brenton and – 

Resolved:

That the revised layout of the customer hub at an additional cost of £133k be 
rejected.

(Vote: For 18, Against 3, Abstentions 4)

The motion was carried.

The Strategic Manager (Resources) presented the final section of the report, Digital 
by Default.  The Committee was asked to approve the implementation of a 
Programme Board as outlined in the report.

In accordance with the Constitution it was proposed by Councillor Eastman, seconded 
by Councillor S inch and –

Resolved: That in view of the fact 3 hours had elapsed since the meeting had 
commenced, the meeting should continue. 

(Vote: For 19, Against 5, Abstentions 1)

There were concerns that the proposed Programme Board looked rather like an 
Executive Council.  The Strategic Manager (Resources) reassured Members that it 
was only a model for managing a range of projects.

It was proposed by Councillor Whittaker and seconded by Councillor Christie

That  Members would need more information about how the Programme Board 
would operate and therefore, deferred.

(Vote: For – unanimous)  

11.   APPOINTMENT OF INTERNAL & EXTERNAL SCRUTINY NON-ELECTED 
MEMBERS 

The Head of Paid Service presented the report, advising that a panel comprising 
Councillors Whittaker and Watson, the Head of Paid Service and the Strategic 
Manager (Resources) had interviewed 3 candidates.

It was proposed by Councillor Whittaker, seconded by Councillor Watson and –

Page 9



8

Resolved:

That Mr Ian Harper and Mr Stephen Dengate be appointed as Non-elected 
Representatives to Overview and Scrutiny (Internal) Committee for a period of four 
years.

and 

That Mr Keith Bines be appointed as Non-elected Representative to Overview and 
Scrutiny (External) Committee for a period of four years.

(Vote: For unanimous)

12.   PETITIONS 

There were no petitions.

13.   NOTICES OF MOTION 

There were no notices of motion.

14.   EXCLUSION OF PUBLIC 

LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 1972 (as amended)

It was proposed by Councillor S Inch and seconded by Councillor Julian – 

That under Section 100(a)(4) of the Local Government Act (as amended) the public 
be excluded from the meeting for the following items of business because of the 
likely disclosure of exempt information by virtue of Paragraph 3 of Part 1 and 
Paragraph 10 of Part 2 of Schedule 12A of the Local Government Act 1972.

(Vote:  For - Unanimous)

15.   BRUNSWICK WHARF 

PART II - (CLOSED SESSION)

The Head of Paid Service said that she had hoped to have had a written report to 
present but unfortunately, this was not yet available.  The verbal update contained 
commercially confidential information and therefore, had to be conducted in Part II.

The current situation was presented.

A written update will be provided at the next Full Council meeting.

It was proposed by Councillor Watson, seconded by Councillor Whittaker and –

Resolved:

Page 10



9

That the meeting return to Part I and that any press and public be readmitted.

(Vote:  For - Unanimous)

The meeting commenced at 6.30 pm and closed at 10.03 pm

Chair: Date:

Page 11



Agenda Item

REPORT OF Planning Manager
To: Full Council
Subject: Northam Parish Neighbourhood Area Designation 
Date: 7th August 2017 Reference:

PURPOSE OF REPORT: To confirm the designation of Northam Civil Parish as a Neighbourhood 
Area under Section 61G of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as amended). 

1. INTRODUCTION
Northam Town Council has applied to Torridge District Council to formally designate the entirety of 
Northam Civil Parish as a ‘Neighbourhood Area’; the designation of a neighbourhood area being the 
first step in the process of preparing a Neighbourhood Development Plan (commonly referred to as 
a Neighbourhood Plan). This report sets out the process of designating the Neighbourhood Area, 
which is a requirement on the Council and neighbourhood plan preparation, in relation to which the 
Council has a duty to provide support. 

2. BACKGROUND
The Localism Act 2011 introduced legislation that has provided local communities more power to 
plan for the future of their areas, offering them the opportunity to prepare Neighbourhood Plans and 
Neighbourhood Development Orders. Once made (the term for their adoption) Neighbourhood 
Plans carry full weight as part of the statutory Development Plan for the area, from which due regard 
must be had when making decisions on planning applications.

The legislative framework governing the preparation of Neighbourhood Development Plans is set 
out in the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as amended) along with a series of subordinate 
regulations. The power to designate a Neighbourhood Area being conveyed to local planning 
authorities under Section 61G of the Town and County Planning Act 1990, as amended. 

The Neighbourhood Planning (General) Regulations 2012 came into force on 1st April 2012 and set 
out the steps that must be achieved in order to progress the preparation of a Neighbourhood Plan. 
The first formal step towards the preparation of a Neighbourhood Plan is the designation of a 
Neighbourhood Area, which is achieved through the application of a qualifying body to the relevant 
local planning authority.

A  ‘qualifying body’ is defined by legislation; comprising parish councils and others capable of being, 
or already designated as ‘neighbourhood forums’ in areas that are not governed by parish councils; 
with neighbourhood forums required to be designated by the local authority. A parish council, as a 
‘relevant body’ under the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (Section 61G), is able to submit a 
neighbourhood area application to the local planning authority. 

Prior to 1st October 2016, under the regulations detailed above1, the local planning authority was 
obliged to publicise any application for the designation of a neighbourhood area as soon as possible 
after receipt, to those living, working and doing business in the parish and invite comment on the 
proposal for a specified period. In doing so, the local planning authority was also obliged to 
determine the application within a set period, moving to designate the area unless there were 
justified reasons not to do so.

1 Regulations 6 and 6A of The Neighbourhood Planning (General) Regulations 2012, as amended.

Page 12

Agenda Item 8



From 1st October 2016 amended regulations were introduced that simplified the process of 
neighbourhood area designation to expedite the process. The amended regulations introduced a 
streamlined process2 for applications where:

1. the qualifying body is a parish council;
2. the proposed area consists the whole of the parish council’s area; and
3. if any part of the specified area is part of an existing neighbourhood area, none of that 

existing neighbourhood area extends outside of the parish council’s area. 

In such circumstances, where the received application is determined to be valid the local planning 
authority is explicitly directed to exercise its powers to designate the specified area as a 
neighbourhood area. As such, if a qualifying application meeting these requirements is submitted to 
a local planning authority, then it has no choice but to designate the area. In streamlining the 
process of Neighbourhood Area designation it is clear that the Government expect Councils to 
respond expeditiously to confirm designations which are subject to a valid application. 

3. NORTHAM NEIGHBOURHOOD AREA DESIGNATION
The Neighbourhood Area designation application from Northam Town Council, provided as 
appendix 1 to this report, seeks the designation of the entirety of the Civil Parish of Northam as a 
Neighbourhood Area. 

The application is considered to be duly made, comprising all of the information necessary to meet 
the requirements prescribed within the regulations, namely: 

 a map which identifies the area to which the area application relates, 
 a statement explaining why this area is considered appropriate to be designated as a 

neighbourhood area; and
 a statement that the Town Council is a relevant body for the purposes of the related 

legislation.

The application is also considered to conform with the requirements of Regulation 5A that enable 
the simplified process for consideration of applications to be followed, in that the application is:

 from Northam Town Council, a qualifying parish council;
 the area specified within the application consists of the whole of the Civil Parish of Northam, 

which comprises the whole of the parish council’s area; and
 no part of the area specified in the application is currently part of a neighbourhood area 

which extends outside of the parish council’s area.

On this basis, Regulation 5A(2) of The Neighbourhood Planning (General) Regulations 2012 
dictates that the Council must exercise its powers under Section 61G of the 1990 Act and designate 
the specified area as a neighbourhood area. The Council is afforded no discretion in this process 
and has no opportunity to deviate from designation if a valid application is received. On this basis, it 
is recommended (Recommendation 1) that the area contiguous with that of Northam Civil Parish 
(included in Appendix 1) is designated as a Neighbourhood Area in accordance with Section 61G of 
the Town and Country Planning Act 1990, as amended. 

Consequences of Neighbourhood Area Designation
Designation of a Neighbourhood Area is the first step in the preparation of a Neighbourhood 
Development Plan. Once the Neighbourhood Area is designated, the next stage is for the town/ 
parish council to engage with their communities and prepare the Neighbourhood Plan. The process 
requires at least one formal 6 week consultation period on the draft Plan. Assistance from the 
District Council with this process may be required, and the Council is obligated to provide such in 
accordance with a ‘duty of care and support’. However, the Localism Act makes it clear that the 

2 Regulation 5A of The Neighbourhood Planning (General) Regulations 2012, as amended.

Page 13



preparation of Neighbourhood Plans should be led by parish/ town councils in consultation with their 
communities.

Once drafted, a Neighbourhood Plan will be submitted to the District Council who will carry out a 
check to ensure that it has been prepared correctly and meets the right basic standards. The District 
Council will then undertake a further 6 week consultation, following which the District Council will 
facilitate and fund an independent examination into the Neighbourhood Plan. Providing that the 
Examiner recommends that the Neighbourhood Plan is appropriate to be taken forward then a 
referendum will be called for which the District Council will be responsible for facilitating and 
funding. The Neighbourhood Plan requires the support of the majority of those who vote in the 
referendum in order to be taken forward.

If the referendum indicates community support, the Neighbourhood Plan will normally then be 
adopted or ‘made’ by the District Council, becoming part of the statutory Development Plan against 
which relevant planning applications will be determined. The District Council and other decision 
makers are then obliged, by law, to take the Neighbourhood Plan into account when considering 
proposals for development in the subject area.

4. IMPLICATIONS
Legal Implications
Neighbourhood Planning (General) Regulations require the District Council to confirm valid 
applications that seek the designation of Neighbourhood Areas. 

It is a statutory requirement to support the preparation of Neighbourhood Plans and for this Council 
to adopt, or ‘make’ them, if supported by the referendum. Failure to support Northam Town Council 
to prepare a Neighbourhood Plan could result in legal challenge with any subsequent 
consequences for the Council.

The Council is legally required through the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 and associated 
subordinate regulations to consider and determine applications for the designation of 
neighbourhood areas. In the case of this application, the legislation requires that the Council 
designate the area specified in the application.

Financial Implications
The costs associated with designating the Neighbourhood Area can be met within existing Local 
Plan budgets. No budgetary provision is however in place to support the preparation of 
Neighbourhood Plans., As a minimum, associated costs will include the cost of the examination and 
referendum, with additional costs, not including officer time, being required to be met in relation to 
the administration of the process. 

Financial support is available from Central Government to support local planning authorities with 
their neighbourhood planning obligations. For the 2017/2018 financial year, local planning 
authorities can claim £20,000 from Government for each Neighbourhood Plan, payable once a date 
is set for a referendum on a draft Plan following a successful examination. The Council is also 
currently able to claim an additional £5,000 from Government on the successful designation of each 
of the first five Neighbourhood Areas within a local planning authority area. The designation of 
Northam Civil Parish as a Neighbourhood Area would be the fifth designation within Torridge, 
following the previous designations of the parishes of Great Torrington, Bradworthy, Welcome and 
Winkleigh.

It is not possible to precisely estimate the cost that likely to be incurred by a local planning authority 
to support the preparation of a particular Neighbourhood Plan. This is because the costs of the 
examination are linked directly to its duration which will relate to the complexity of the 
Neighbourhood Plan. Equally, the costs associated to the referendum will relate to the size of the 
local community within the Neighbourhood Area. 

Page 14



Based upon experience elsewhere, the costs to a local planning authority associated to the 
examination of a Neighbourhood Plan for could be expected to be in the region of £5,000-£10,000, 
dependant upon the complexity of the Plan and the scale of the issues covered. 

The costs associated to the holding of the referendum can be estimated more readily. The Elections 
team estimate that the cost associated to running a referendum for the Northam Neighbourhood 
Plan is likely to be in the order of £14,944.

Subject to no significant future change to the level of grant funding available from Government to 
support local planning authorities neighbourhood planning responsibilities, it is likely that the level of 
grant that can be claimed in relation to the preparation of a Neighbourhood Plan for Northam, will 
broadly cover the level of anticipated expenditure incurred to meet the Council’s prescribed 
responsibilities.

Human Resources Implications
The local planning authority has a duty to support communities making their Neighbourhood 
Plan(s): through the consideration of applications for the designation of Neighbourhood Areas,  
provision of advice and guidance, making evidence available, checking that the plan meets certain 
basic conditions and through the funding and organisation of the independent examination and 
referendum. The requirements of supporting the Neighbourhood Plan process will require staff 
resource from both Planning and Democratic Services, the explicit tasks relating to which are not 
included in current business plans. 

Sustainability/Biodiversity Implications
The development of a Neighbourhood Plan by a local community will need to comply with the 
provisions of national planning policy which is founded on the principles of sustainable 
development. As such, the preparation of a Neighbourhood Plan for Northam should provide an 
opportunity for the advancement of sustainability. 

Equality/Diversity
Neighbourhood Plans, through a democratic process of consultation and referendum, provide an 
opportunity for all sectors of the local community to have a say in the future development of their 
area.

Risk Management
There are no direct risk implications arising form the designation of the Northam Neighbourhood 
Area. A service level agreement between the District Council and Northam Town Council would 
usefully aid the management of the delivery process of the Neighbourhood Plan. At this time the 
District Council have no established protocol in respect of the level of resource it will provide in 
support of the Neighbourhood Plan process.

Compliance with Policies and Strategies
There are no implications arising from this report. One of the basic conditions, which a 
Neighbourhood Plan must meet, is that it is in general conformity with the strategic policies 
contained in the local development plan.

Ward Members and Lead Member Views
Northam: Cllr Davies, Cllr Hancock and Cllr Langton-Lockton - no comment provided. 
Cllr Himan: Having a local plan gives Northam Town Council (Northam, Westward Ho! Appledore 
and Orchard Hill) a great opportunity to plan ahead and have a say in the future development of the 
area. A local voice will be heard; giving the Town Council some control over development is a great 
idea. 
Cllr Le Maistre: I fully support Northam Neighbourhood Area Designation Application 
Cllr Eastman: Support Northam Town Councils application to designate the parish as a 
Neighbourhood Area and the future preparation of a Neighbourhood Plan, which will allow issues 
affecting the community of Northam to be considered at a local level.

Page 15



Cllr Whittaker: Northam Town Council's intention to develop a Neighbour Plan is driven by all its 
Councillors aspirations to ensure that the best possible development is delivered throughout it’s 
area. The Plan it is hoped will add value to the District Council's Local Plan while ensuring that a 
local voice can be applied whenever this is needed

Cllr Watson (Lead Member for Planning): Gives supports to the Town Council’s application, with the 
recognition that the District Council is obliged to confirm the designation of Northam Parish as a 
Neighbourhood Area.

6. CONCLUSIONS
The Northam Neighbourhood Area application has triggered the obligation, in accordance with 
Regulation 5A(2) of The Neighbourhood Planning (General) Regulations 2012, for the Council to 
designate the Civil Parish of Northam as a Neighbourhood Area. As such, it is recommended that 
the area of Northam Civil Parish is designated as a Neighbourhood Area in accordance with Section 
61G of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990, as amended.

7. RECOMMENDATION

The Council are requested to consider the following recommendation:
1.    That Northam Civil Parish (as outlined on the map at Appendix 1 to this report) be designated 

as a Neighbourhood Area in accordance with Section 61G of the Town and Country Planning 
Act 1990, as amended.

SUPPORTING INFORMATION

Consultations: Date of Consultation – 20th July 2017
Members Consulted – Lead Member for Planning

 Ward Members for Northam
Officers Consulted -  Head of Paid Service 

 Solicitor 
 Strategic Manager (Resources) 

Contact Officer(s): David Green, Planning Manager/ Dawn Burgess/Ian Rowland, Senior 
Planning Policy Officers

Background Papers:
The Town and Country Planning Act 1990, as amended; available at: 
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1990/8/contents 

Localism Act 2011; available at: 
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2011/20/contents 

The Neighbourhood Planning (General) Regulations 2012; as amended: 
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2012/637/contents/made

The Neighbourhood Planning (General)(Amendment) Regulations 2015; 
available at: http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2015/20/made 

The Neighbourhood Planning (General) and Development Management 
Procedure (Amendment) Regulations 2012; available at: 
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2016/873/contents/made

Chief Planning Officer Letter from CLG: Update on financial support for 
neighbourhood planning in 2017 to 2018; available at: 
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/planning-guidance-letters-to-chief-
planning-officers 

Page 16

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1990/8/contents
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2011/20/contents
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2012/637/contents/made
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2015/20/made
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2016/873/contents/made
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/planning-guidance-letters-to-chief-planning-officers
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/planning-guidance-letters-to-chief-planning-officers


 
 
 
 
 
 

The local Council for Appledore, Northam, Orchard Hill and Westward Ho! 
Lords of the Manor                                      Office open: Monday to Friday mornings                                                Trustees of the Common Right 
                                                                                           

 
 

 

  
 
 
 
 

NORTHAM TOWN COUNCIL 
COUNCIL OFFICES 

WINDMILL LANE 
NORTHAM 

DEVON 
EX39 1BY 

 
Town Clerk: Mrs Jane Mills MILCM 

Telephone and Fax: 01237/474976 
e-mail townclerk@northamtowncouncil.gov.uk 

 
 

Dear Mr. Rowland,  

Re: Neighbourhood Planning (General) Regulations 2012: Application for Designation of a 

Neighbourhood Area: Northam 

Under the relevant legislation as set out in the Neighbourhood Planning (General) Regulations 

2012, Northam Town Council, being a 'relevant body' as defined in Section 61(G) of the Town and 

Country Planning Act 1990, wishes to prepare a Neighbourhood Development Plan. 

As required by Regulation 5 of the Regulations, this Application for Designation of a 

Neighbourhood Area is accompanied by the following: 

• A map which identifies the area to which the area application relates 

• A statement explaining why this area is considered appropriate to be designated as a 

neighbourhood area 

• A statement that the organisation or body making the area application is a relevant body for 

the purposes of section 61G of the 1990 Act 

 

 We consider the defined area to be appropriate for designation for the following reasons:  

i) The area for which designation is sought covers the entire administrative area of Northam 

Civil Parish. See area outlined in red on the enclosed map.  

 

ii) The defined area has an existing sense of community amongst its three distinct 

settlements of; Northam, Appledore and Westward Ho! which the Town Council 

wishes to nurture and promote by creating a Neighbourhood Plan. The 

Neighbourhood Plan aims to meet the present and future needs of residents, 

businesses and organisations in a way that conserves and enhances the environment 

whilst ensuring harmony amongst the community. 

 

  

Page 17



iii) The Town Council wishes to promote and ensure future development respects the 

landscape setting including the special landscape character and qualities of the 

adjoining Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty. 

 

iv) The forthcoming new Local Plan illustrates the Authority’s future aspiration of Northam, 

Appledore and Westward Ho! With some of the intentions quite considerable, it 

would be beneficial for the community to have an opportunity to contribute to change 

within their parish. 

 
For the purposes of section 61G of the 1990 Act this letter is our statement.  
 
Yours sincerely, 
Maria 
 
 
 
Planning and Development Consultant  
Maria Bailey Planning 
Director 
 
 
 
 
On behalf of Northam Town Council 

Page 18



 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 19



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 20



REPORT OF Strategic Manager – Resources

To: Full Council

Subject: Annual Report on Treasury Management 2016-17

Date: 7th August 2017

1. INTRODUCTION
The Council has adopted the CIPFA Code of Practice in Treasury Management in the 
Public Sector, which requires that a report should be presented on Treasury 
Management activity for the previous financial year.  This report also includes the 
actual Prudential Indicators for the year.

2. REPORT

Background
The Council operates its treasury management service in compliance with the code 
and other statutory requirements. These require that the prime objective of the treasury 
management activity is the effective management of risk, and that borrowing activity is 
undertaken on a prudent, affordable and sustainable basis.

Performance for the year 2016/17
The Bank of England Base Rate reduced to 0.25% on the 4th August 2016. 

The average rate of return achieved by the Council on its short term investments was 
0.70% which compared with 0.76% in 2015/16.

The return from short term investments in 2016/17 was £97k, which compared with a 
return of £104k in 2015/16.

As at the 31st March 2017 the Council had short term investments of £13m lodged with 
financial institutions, the comparable figure for the 31st March 2016 being £10m.

During 2016/17 the Council repaid £38k of long term Public Loans Board debt, the 
balance outstanding at the close of 2016/17 being £1,238k.

The Council’s internal prudential borrowing was reduced by £1.2m following the receipt 
of a deferred capital receipt pertaining to sale of an asset in a prior year.

The Prudential indicators for the year are attached at Appendix 1.

PURPOSE OF REPORT:
To report on the treasury management activity in the year and actual prudential indicators for 
2016/17.

Page 21

Agenda Item 9



3. Implications

Legal Implications

There are no specific legal implications

Financial Implications

All treasury management activity carries a level of risk, but adherence to the approved 
strategy minimises this. However, minimising risk needs to be balanced with the 
income generated and the expenditure incurred through treasury management 
activities. 

 The Council’s treasury strategy can be best summarised in order of priority as 

 Security of investment
 Liquidity
 Return on investment.

The Council employs Capita Asset Services as its external Treasury advisors.

Human Resource Implications

There are no specific substantiality implications

Equality / Diversity

There are no specific equality / Diversity issues

Risk Management

The risk that borrowers may default is minimised by adherence to the Treasury 
Management Strategy, the credit rating of counter parties being checked prior to 
making the investments, all financial institutions with which the Council contracts are 
UK registered and have a Fitch F1 rating. Short term investments cannot be placed for 
more than 364 days.

Compliance with Policies and Strategies

The report fits in within the Council’s Treasury Management framework.

Page 22



Lead Member View

Date of Consultation 25th July 2017 - Councillor LeMaistre

Torridge District Council has fulfilled it’s obligations in accordance with Treasury 
Management Code of Practice. The Prudential Indicators show the impact on the 
Council’s financial position and provide re-assurance that risks are being managed 
and activity has been undertaken within agreed limits.  

4. CONCLUSIONS

Returns on the Council’s investments remain low, as the Bank of England has 
maintained its policy of low interest rates.

5. RECOMMENDATIONS

To comply with the requirements of the CIPFA Code of Practice in Treasury 
Management in the public sector; Members are asked:

 To note the Treasury Management Report for 2016/17
 To note the actual Prudential Indicators for 2016/17

Page 23



APPENDIX 1

PRUDENTIAL INDICATORS 2016/17

1. The Prudential code was introduced in response to the Local Government Act 2003; it 
requires Prudential Indicators in relation to Treasury Management and the Capital 
Programme to be reported to members at the end of each financial year. These indicators 
are set out in the in succeeding paragraphs in the format required by the Code, which at 
times is extremely technical.

2. Capital Expenditure 

The actual capital expenditure and sources of financing in 2016/17 were:

Capital Expenditure 2015/16 2016/17 2016/17
Actual Estimate Actual
£'000 £'000 £'000

Total Programme
           

2,229 
           

5,356 
           

1,367 
 less
Grants & Contributions (1,002) (949) (565)
Revenue Contributions (823) (2,788) (483)
Capital Receipts (404) (1,619) (319)
Net Financed from Internal borrowing 0  0  0

3. Capital Financing Requirement 

The Capital Financing Requirement (CFR) is the underlying need to use borrowing or leasing 
to provide capital assets. This is calculated from the balance sheet:

Capital Financing Requirement 2015/16 2016/17 2016/17
Actual Estimate Actual
£'000 £'000 £'000

Total
           

3,045 
           

2,971 
           

2,971 

4. The Prudential Code includes the following as a key indicator of prudence:

“In order to ensure that over the medium term net borrowing will only be for a capital 
purpose, the local authority should ensure that net external borrowing does not, except in 
the short term, exceed the total of the capital financing requirement in the preceding year 
plus the estimates of any additional capital financing requirement for the current and next 
two financial years”.

Page 24



Net Borrowing 2015/16 2016/17 2016/17
Actual Estimate Actual
£'000 £'000 £'000

Borrowing
           

2,483 
           

2,290 
           

2,507 
Investments (10,000) (10,000) (13,000)
Net Borrowing (7,517)  (7,710)  (10,493)

The above table clearly shows that the Council’s net borrowing is significantly less that the 
Capital Financing Requirement as shown in 3, thus confirming that borrowing was for capital 
purposes only.

5. Authorised Limit for External Debt

This limit represents the maximum amount that Torridge may borrow at any given time 
during the year.  The Authorised limit for the Council in 2016/17 was £5,492k; Members are 
asked to note that Authorised Limit determined for 2016/17 was the statutory limit 
determined under Section 31 of the Local Government Act 2003.  No additional borrowing 
was undertaken during 2016/17.

6. Operational Boundary

The operational boundary sets the limit for short term borrowing requirements for cash flow 
and has to be lower than the previous indicator (the authorised limit for external debt). A 
ceiling of £2,290k has been set.

The operational boundary represents a key management tool for in year monitoring. As 
noted in paragraph 5 there was no requirement to undertake additional borrowing during 
the year.

Operational Boundary for External Debt 2016/17 2016/17  
Estimate Actual
£’000 £’000

Borrowing 2,290 2,290

7. Ratio of Financing Costs to Net Revenue Stream 

This indicator shows the proportion of the Council’s budget (i.e. the costs it has to 
meet from government grants and local taxation), that is required to meet the costs 
associated with capital financing (interest and principal, net of interest received). 

          
Ratio of Financing Costs to Net Revenue  2015/16 2016/17 2016/17

            Stream Actual Estimate Actual
£'000 £'000 £'000

Financing Costs
                  

51,028 
        

51,690 
        

90,074 

Net Revenue Stream
            

7,732,936 
  

9,292,108 
  

9,292,100 
Ratio of Financing Costs 0.66% 0.56% 0.97%

Page 25



8. Band D Council Tax

The incremental impact of financing costs on the Council is detailed below:

                                                                                    2016/17                     2016/17
                                                                                    Estimate                      Actual                                                                             

sssssssssssssssssssssss

            Annual impact from previous year  for       £ 0.03p                       £1.75     
            Band D Equivalent

The increase in 2016/17 actual against the 2015/16 outturn is explained by a repayment of 
loan principal in 2016/17 of £39,046.  There was no repayment of PWLB loan principal in 
2015/16.  There was also a slight decline in investment income received in 2016/17 due to 
reduction in interest rates. The impact of these increased net financing costs when spread 
across the 22,318 band D equivalent properties in the Borough equates to £1.75 per 
property per annum.

9. Exposure to Fixed and Variable Rates of Interest

The Council must set limits to contain the activity of the treasury function within certain 
limits. All of the councils borrowing and investment in 2016/17 were at fixed interest rates.    
Consequently the Council did not have any exposure to the variable interest rates in line 
with its treasury management strategy.

10. Maturity Structure of Fixed Rates Borrowing

The Council sets upper and lower limits for the maturity structure of its borrowing. The 
table below details the boundaries for the maturity of outstanding borrowing compared to 
actual.  As an aid to comprehension the Council has set an upper boundary for borrowing 
becoming due for redemption with 12 months of 60%; at the close of the financial year 
2016/17 - £95k was due for redemption within 12 months, representing 8% of the total 
outstanding borrowing

2015/16 2016/17 

       Lower Target
Upper 
Target Actual

Under 12 months 0.00% 60.00% 8%
12 months and within 24 
months 0.00% 10.00% 15%
24 and within 5 years 20.00% 40.00% 23%
5 years and within 10 years 30.00% 50.00% 38%
10 years and above 10.00% 30.00% 15%

11. The Council’s Treasury Management Strategy prevents the Council from investing surplus 
funds for periods of greater than 364 days.

Page 26



REPORT OF Senior Solicitor
To: Full Council
Subject: Regulation of Investigatory Powers Act (RIPA)
Date: 7 August 2017 Reference:

PURPOSE OF REPORT: 

To agree amendments to the Corporate Policy on Corporate Surveillance under RIPA 

1. INTRODUCTION

The Regulation of Investigatory Powers Act 2000 (RIPA) governs how public authorities 
carry out covert surveillance.  It introduced a system of authorisations which ensures that 
any covert surveillance was lawful, necessary and proportionate.

2. REPORT

It is a requirement to have a corporate RIPA Policy and Torridge has had one since the 
introduction of the Act.  However, the policy is due for a periodic update.

The policy provides that authority to carry out covert surveillance or to use a covert human 
intelligence source can only be given by designated senior officers of the Council, with each 
authorisation also subject to judicial approval.  Those officers have a duty to consider 
whether the surveillance is lawful, necessary and proportionate.  Failure to carry this out 
correctly could mean that the Council breaches the Human Rights Act and may mean that 
evidence obtained is inadmissible.  It would also reduce public confidence in the Council.

The updated Policy is attached as Appendix 1.

3. IMPLICATIONS

Legal Implications
Adoption of a policy will enable the Council to fulfil its duties

Financial Implications
None

Human Resources Implications
Within existing resources

Sustainability/Biodiversity Implications
n/a

Equality/Diversity
n/a

Page 27

Agenda Item 10



Risk Management
The risk of breach is reduced by adopting the policy

Compliance with Policies and Strategies
Accords with the Human Rights Act and other legislation and policies

Ward Member and Lead Member Views
n/a

4. CONCLUSIONS

It is important for the Council to have an up-to-date and relevant RIPA policy.

5. RECOMMENDATIONS

That Members approve the updated Corporate RIPA Policy

 

Page 28



Page 29



Page 30



Page 31



Page 32



Page 33



Page 34



Page 35



Page 36



Page 37



Page 38



Page 39



Page 40



Page 41



Page 42



Page 43



Page 44



Page 45



Page 46



Page 47



Page 48



Page 49



Agenda Item

REPORT OF Senior Solicitor
To: Full Council
Subject: Update on the proposals for the Riverbank House Hub
Date: 7 August 2017 Reference:

PURPOSE OF REPORT: 

To provide supplementary details to support the full report presented to Full Council on 26th June 
2017 for the alternative proposals to the Customer Hub at Riverbank House.

1. INTRODUCTION

At the Full Council meeting on 26th June 2017 the decision was taken not to progress with the 
alternative proposals for the Customer Hub. At the request of the Leadership Team, which met on 
the 4th July 2017 the Property & Procurement Team have subsequently provided this further report 
with additional detail in support of the original proposals for further consideration by Full Council. 
This report should be read as supplementary to the original proposal. The original report is attached 
as Appendix one.

2. REPORT

The consolidation of Services onto a single site facility at Riverbank House will substantially alter the 
manner in which Customer Services are delivered. The move from Bridge Buildings to Riverbank 
House will change the use and intensity of the building from predominantly staff based service 
delivery office accommodation to a focal point for public access. The number of visitors that 
currently attend Riverbank House will increase by circa 500% as shown in the table below.

Current & Predicted Visitor Numbers

Site 2016/17 Visitor Numbers Estimated 2018 Visitor Numbers
Bridge Buildings 23,694 0
Riverbank House 6,039 30,000

Total 29,733 30,000

In addition to the increase in numbers, the profile of visitors will also change. The visitors to 
Riverbank House are predominantly professional and commercial individuals on official business 
and members of the public seeking support with on-line planning application enquiries via the 
Reception portal facility.

By contrast, the majority of the visitors to the Reception area at Bridge Buildings comprise 
individuals who are seeking support with benefit enquiries or who are unable to process information 
other than on a ‘face to face’ basis with a member of the Customer Services Team. Some of these 
individuals are prone to behavioural issues and can be intimidating for the team.

The nature of the services provided to these customers will always require direct access to an 
adviser and the advice provided is not always well received. There have been a number of recorded 
incidents in recent years where staff have been subjected to a range of verbal and physical abuse, 
the most recent of which on Wednesday 26th July required Police intervention. A copy of the incident 

Page 50

Agenda Item 11



report is retained in the service area, although because of the sensitive nature cannot be disclosed 
in a public report.  In summary the customer was agitated, aggressive and intoxicated and exhibiting 
mental health issues.  The customer was disruptive and swearing loudly, which in turn affected 
other customers being dealt with and made our staff feel threatened both verbally and physically.  
The customer was still confrontational and aggressive toward the police officer dealing with the 
situation.

With national changes to both the Health and Housing systems it is very unlikely that moving the 
services provided at Bridge Buildings to Riverbank House will reduce the level of incidents involved 
in handling members of the public with such behavioural issues and we are already experiencing an 
increase in the number of households who are presenting themselves at Bridge Buildings with 
homelessness issues and these individuals have to be dealt with there and then.  We are also 
experiencing more cases where customers have either mental health and or safeguarding issues 
that need careful and considerate dealing with.

With the development of our Digital by Default Strategy and customer self service plans we will also 
be expecting customers to be using IT terminals in the reception area and our officers providing 
support to enter sometimes personal and sensitive information online.  Therefore we would 
envisage that some customers will be spending more time than normal in the reception area whilst 
this long term strategy develops.

The original proposals involve an open plan arrangement whereby all visitors accessing the range 
of services that will be available at Riverbank House through a single entrance / reception area. The 
current proposals do not involve the provision of any dedicated security guard cover for the facilities. 
The proximity of Bridge Buildings to the Police Station does mean that any intervention required is 
immediately on hand, a level of response that will not be so readily available at Riverbank House.

Given the increased number of visitors to the premises we expect the need for use of WC facilities 
and given that the current facilities are in the centre of existing building layout it would involve 
shared provision for both staff and visitors. However, the current provision is within the secured area 
of the building, which again would require alteration.  The alternative proposals involve a dedicated 
WC facility that will be in direct line of sight and control of the Customer Services Team.

In addition to the practical arrangements associated with the facilities, there are also technical 
issues associated with the original proposals.

Firstly, the work to the centre of the building will render a substantial part of the premises unsuitable 
for us. This will necessitate the temporary relocation of the current Reception facility for the duration 
of the work with the inevitable disruption to the services provided. Enlarging the current Reception 
area will involve structural alterations to open up the space that will be inherently disruptive to the 
continued use of the premises.

A large part of the original mechanical and electrical services infrastructure is located in the current 
Reception area. These will also need to be decommissioned and relocated. Although the costs 
associated with these works are included within the original tender for the scheme the risks are not. 
Therefore any additional costs associated with these risks should they materialise will be borne by 
the Council and not the contractor.  Premises installations of the age of Riverbank House are 
nearing the end of their serviceable life and may not tolerate the level of interference associated 
with a physical disconnection and relocation (refer to Photo appended).

The alternative area identified for the Hub facility comprises the former garage space that has 
subsequently been sub-divided using lightweight partitioning. This will be both easier and less 
disruptive to remove and will ultimately create a larger area for the Customer Services facility.

Separating the user groups will mean that there is less interaction between the officers and 
members of the public on a daily basis and will maintain a degree of privacy and protection when 

Page 51



using the welfare facilities. The alternatives will however involve the provision of the alternative 
office accommodation to offset the area lost to the Customer Services facility. This can be achieved 
by infilling the area under the former Committee Room with the benefit of improving the internal 
working environment for the existing IT Office. For ease of reference the costs associated with these 
alterations are repeated below as follows:

Internal Alterations to the Hub £ 248,700
External works & Entrance £   11,900
Disabled WC & Kitchen Area £   11,400
Additional Office / Workspace £   70,800
Total £ 342,800
Overall increase on 2016 scheme £ 134,800
There are timing implications involved for the two alternatives. The original will require enabling 
works and temporary relocation works that require implementing with immediate effect if we are to 
maintain the overall programme for completion by the end of the financial year. 

The alternative layout represents a concept rather than a final solution and will therefore require 
detailed design and costing negotiations with the contractors involved to enable the works to 
progress with any certainty. A planning application will also be required for the external alterations 
to the premises. Completion of the alternative by the end of the 2017 financial year is uncertain at 
present.

3. IMPLICATIONS

Legal Implications
N/A

Financial Implications
The forecast additional cost for the proposed alteration to the project is illustrated in the 
report at £134,800.  Whilst this represents a significant sum there are a number of additional 
benefits both for customers and staff, which reflect this increase.

Human Resources Implications
The report outlines that the existing design and layout of the customer hub has a number of 
features that compromise the working environment of our officers.  This is particularly in 
terms of space to deal with the forecast increase in customer numbers that will visit 
Riverbank House, but also conflicts in terms of facilities and office layout.  The revised plan 
and layout eliminates this concerns and issues.

Sustainability/Biodiversity Implications
The revised plan is designed for longevity and to be fit for the future delivery of Council 
Services.

Equality/Diversity
N/A

Risk Management
The increased number of visitors expected to use Riverbank House and the issues that our 
officers have to deal with and manage on a day to day requires us to consider our duty of 
care toward our staff and ensure that we design facilities and layouts best to suited to 
minimise the risk.
 

Compliance with Policies and Strategies

Page 52



The Council’s Corporate Strategy contains four goals of which one is to be an Effective and 
Customer Focused Council with an outcome of that being to deliver customer focussed and 
cost efficient services.

Ward Member and Leader Member Views

Consultation with Councillor Hurley on 18th July confirmed that concerns remain regarding 
the current scheme approved, that the alternative proposals are worthy of further 
consideration and would be supported.

Consultation with Councillor LeMaistre on 25th July confirmed support for the alterative 
proposals for the Customer Hub, endorsing the requirement that whatever facilities are 
provided must be an improvement for customers and staff alike.

4. CONCLUSIONS

The Riverbank House premises will be attended by an increased number of people requiring access 
to the facilities and services offered by the Customer Services Team. The original proposal for the 
Customer Hub will create a shared space for staff, visitors and customers attending the premises, 
sharing the existing welfare facilities. The original proposals will also involve structural and services 
alterations to the central Reception area, the risks for which are currently unknown. The alternative 
proposal will provide separate user areas that will involve less disruption during the work and create 
a more customer focused environment on completion.

A decision needs to be achieved to enable the overall programme of works to be maintained.

5. RECOMMENDATIONS

That Full Council reconsider the recommendation for the alternative Customer Service Hub facility, 
to enable the overall Transforming Torridge programme to be maintained.

SUPPORTING INFORMATION

Consultations: Date of Consultation – Friday 28 July 2017.

Report provided to Full Council.

Officers Consulted – S Hearse. J Hollis
J Wallace.

Contact Officer: A Redwood.

Background Papers: Incident Report from 26th July 2017.

Photos of current Column to be removed with existing services.

Page 53



Appendices

.

Supporting Photos

Existing electrical services to the Reception Area column to be removed

Page 54



Page 55



REPORT OF The Head of Paid Service
To: Full Council
Subject: Transforming Torridge Programme – Progress Report
Date: 26 June 2014 Reference:

PURPOSE OF REPORT: 

To update Full Council on progress made within the various projects and options for improving the 
Governance and oversight of the Programme along with appropriate recommendations.

1. INTRODUCTION

The original Transforming Torridge Programme (TTP) was first approved at Full Council at 
its meeting on 9th October 2014.  A further Full Council meeting on 12th January 2015 
approved the budget of £1.6m and the project strands making up the Programme approved, 
which were:

(a) Office Accommodation
(b) Customer First – the reception hub
(c) Business Innovation – also known as channel shift
(d) Locality working

It was reported that the overall Programme of change would take around 2-3 years to 
implement on an incremental basis rather than a “big bang approach”. The reason for the 
programme was to ensure that the Council could deliver balanced budgets to 2020, taking 
into account the Central Government funding reductions.

There has been a great deal of progress against the principle targets within the Programme 
and the first major phase of the office accommodation project is currently on site at 
Riverbank House “Bank End Building”.  

This report updates Members on all aspects of the Programme and further projects 
associated and now incorporated within Torridge’s overall Transformational Programme.

2. REPORT

2.1 Office Accommodation 

The main focus of the Accommodation strand is centred on the relocation of staff from 
Bridge Buildings onto a single site adjacent to Riverbank House plus significant 
enhancement of Riverbank House to create a multi service customer facing reception hub, 
which will offer access to all services for customers.

In April 2016 tenders were received for this element of work on a design and build basis with 
the most cost advantageous price (post value engineering being £971k (split £759k for the 
new build and £212k for the customer hub).   

At Full Council on 6th June 2016 these quotes were rejected and officers instructed to go 
back to the market and seek further tenders based around a traditional contract approach 
with the aim of seeking a better quote for the works.

Page 56



The results of this second tendering exercise produced contract quotes of £731k and £209k 
respectively providing an overall estimated cost of £940k (risk to actual cost if changes to 
specification or issues arise), which would represent an assumed saving of around £31k. 
However, additional costs of around £20k were incurred as a result of the retendering 
exercise for such costs as architects fees.

Main Building

Work has been progressing well on site and the building has started to take shape.  
However, managing traditional build contracts does pose increased risk and often results in 
additional costs where issues arise during the build and the Project Manager must make 
instructions for the continuance of work.  To date the final sum of the project has been 
forecast at £718k representing a small saving against the original contract sum.

More recently however, the mechanical and engineering consultant awarded the work has 
gone into administration, which will result in additional costs being incurred in order to 
complete the build. A summary of the revised costs are:

  
Description £’000
Contract projection – May 2017 718
Additional M&E consultant costs 12
Additional costs – change specification as 
required by new M&E consultants 30
Costs of delay (two weeks) 7
Plus Contingency 14
Revised Contract Sum / costs 781

The overall retendered estimated cost of the project is £801k compared to £759k to the 
original tender exercise and a £50k increase in costs is required to complete the building 
project.  Had the original design and build contract been awarded many of the costs since 
incurred would have been avoided.  However, now in order to complete the works a further 
£50k is needed to be allocated to the project budget.

2.2 Customer Hub

The original Customer Services Hub was designed and tendered on the basis of a shared 
facility for staff and customers within the central area of Riverbank House. The layout 
proposed utilised the existing main entrance to the building and shared welfare facilities. The 
layout also included workstations to the northern end of the building for the Legal and HR 
Teams.

The design as tendered achieved a cost effective layout within the limited budget available 
which involved a contract sum of £209k.  However, the design and layout involved 
compromises that are likely to affect the long term operational effectiveness of the facility. 
This would potentially be detrimental to both service delivery and workplace efficiencies in 
the longer term. The following specific concerns have been identified.

 Shared access, accommodation and welfare facilities
 Potential compromise in the overall level of security provision
 Isolated workspaces and transition of staff through public waiting areas
 Loss of current customer services facilities during the build phase
 Significant structural and mechanical & electrical alterations

Page 57



There are design and functional limitations associated with any building with such a linear 
plan form, but an alternative layout has been considered that overcomes the compromises 
identified. The opportunity has been taken to utilise the northern end of the building that was 
formerly an open plan area of the building. As an alternative, the overall function and use of 
the areas involved would be separated to enable the operational requirements to function in 
a more secure and segregated arrangement. 

The alternative proposal will assist in achieving the following enhancements:

 Independent public access and secure WC provision
 Enhanced security through separation
 Increased efficiencies through segregated layout
 Operational continuity through alterations 
 Reduced structural and services alterations

The relocation of the Legal and HR Teams would require some further work to increase the 
office accommodation available to the southern end of the building and these would be 
achieved through optimisation of space available under the projecting first floor canopies.

Sketch layouts of the concepts proposed are below and will be shown in more detail when 
the report is presented at Full Council on 26 June 2017.. These will require further 
development in terms of the operational detail, but will remain largely as proposed.

Current proposed Customer Hub layout:

Page 58



Page 59



Revised Customer Hub layout:

Page 60



The increased cost of the revised design is estimated at £342k an increase of £133k.  However, the 
layout proposed represents a more operationally effective solution for the services involved and 
particularly for the customer interaction.

2.3 Digital by Default

The Business Innovation and Locality Working themes have now largely been subsumed 
into what is now termed “Digital by Default”, which is fundamentally about improving the 
entire way we work using a digital platform.  However, that is not to say we will stop 
engaging with customers who still wish to use the more traditional means of communication 

Page 61



of either face to fact or via telephone, although it does recognise a gradual shift to 
technology, which more and more customers are using.

The strand itself is about enabling digital communication either via the use of smarter 
software so customers can help themselves and equipping our staff with modern technology 
in order that the serve the customer when out and about in the community.

Projects already delivered include moving to services to common ICT software platforms, 
rolling out IPads, implanting software that allows staff to work on the move i.e. at the 
customers’ location.

The larger element(s) of this still to be delivered is updating the actual customer interaction 
either by way of a Customer Relationship Management System and or self service software 
that enables the customer to do some transactions themselves.  This work needs to be fully  
integrated and in place a) for the Customer Hub and b) to implement the proposed charging 
for green waste collections as part of the waste and recycling review.

The current status of this project is that systems have been reviewed by the service areas, 
however, following the Business Transformation Manager’s departure have stalled slightly 
and we are currently working with Devon County partners to progress this.

2.4 Programme Board

When the Transforming Torridge Programme  was approved, it was constructed around a 
relatively confined series of projects with relatively static strands of work and the Business 
Transformation Manager was responsible for pulling the work streams together and co-
ordinating the reporting and progress thereof.

However, over the course of the last eighteen months, the scope of the Programme has 
evolved as we have now incorporated the Waste and Recycling review, which in itself 
involves a number of smaller projects, and in addition a number of other large capital 
projects have been approved by Full Council within the Council’s Capital Programme.

It is evident that many of the projects require resources to be pulled together e.g. ICT, 
Finance, Legal and HR together with those Operational Managers actually leading the 
projects who are competing for their projects to be delivered and have resources allocated.

It is also clear that some projects have a clear trajectory in order to achieve savings and or 
other Strategic Objectives and have interlinked practicalities of relying on one another.

Finally as evidenced above in the accommodation project there is also sometimes the need 
to make quick operational decisions to ensure that projects do not stall and which it is 
essential to have clear governance arrangements in place

For these reasons and to ensure we have a formal structure in place to oversee the range of 
projects the Council is aiming to deliver, it is felt imperative that a Programme Board is set 
up, which will have the purpose of overseeing the many projects currently being worked on.

One option for this is to have a Board made up of Leader, Deputy Leader and Chair of 
Community Resources with SMT (to incorporate the three Statutory officers, namely the 
Head of Paid Service, the Statutory Finance Officer and the monitoring Officer).  This could 
be supported by a Programme Manager and or Project Support.

For each of the major projects the Operational Manager (Project Manager) would be 
supported by their Lead Member (Project Sponsor) and will be responsible for the delivery of 
the project and reports to the Programme Board on progress, issues that need addressing 

Page 62



e.g. resourcing.  The Programme Board with the benefit of oversight will be able to allocate 
resources (within budget) from one project to another as necessary and to approve minor 
changes to projects e.g. use of contingency, which might otherwise stall the project if needed 
to wait for the Community and Resources Committee.  It is not intended that the Programme 
Board be able to make major changes to project scope and/or allocate resources beyond 
what is available in the budget.

Communications and progress on major projects will continue as is done now with the 
Transforming Torridge Programme so that all Members are kept up to date at each Full 
Council meeting and are able to question and challenge those leading the projects.  
However, it would be expected that this would be much clearer with Lead Member as well as 
Officer involvement in the Programme.

An example of how the structure could look together with current projects is attached as 
Appendix 1.

3. IMPLICATIONS

Legal Implications

None identified specifically

Financial Implications

The report sets out the additional costs for revising the customer hub layout and employing 
replacement M & E consultants

Human Resources Implications

The proposals will provide an enhanced workplace environment  The Property and 
Procurement team will deal with the accommodation changes to mitigate the degree of 
financial and programme exposure involved.

Sustainability/Biodiversity Implications

Improved operational efficiencies

Equality/Diversity

Improved welfare provision for customers and staff

Risk Management

The proposals for accommodation reduce the potential for further delays to the project, 
maintain design risk reduction by engaging competent resources to complete the scheme 
and minimise impact on service delivery.

Compliance with Policies and Strategies
.
Yes

Page 63



Ward Member and Leader Member Views

Members at the Member/Officer Corporate Peer challenge event were supportive of these 
proposals as was Leadership Team.

4. CONCLUSIONS

5. RECOMMENDATIONS

It is recommended that Full Council:

 Approves the appointment of replacement M & E consultants at an additional 
cost of £50k

 Approves the revised layout of the customer hub at an additional cost of 
£133k

 Approves the implementation of a Programme Board as outlined in the report

Page 64



REPORT OF Senior Solicitor
To: Full Council
Subject: Allocation of Seats to Political Groups & Membership of Committees
Date: 7 August 2017 Reference:

PURPOSE OF REPORT: 

To agree the number of seats on the Committees allocated to each of the Political Groups and 
Membership of Committees

1. INTRODUCTION

It is a requirement of the Council’s Constitution that Full Council approve the number of 
seats on the Committees allocated to each of the Political Groups.
 

2. REPORT

The Committee seats are allocated on a political proportionality basis.  There have been 
some changes since Members approved the number of seats on each Committee at the last 
Full Council meeting, namely the creation of a new Liberal Democrats Group.  Based on the 
new number of Councillors per Group the seat allocation has been calculated as follows:

  
No. of 
Cllrs % of seats

Conservative  19 52.78%
Non Aligned  3 8.33%
UKIP  4 11.11%
Independent  8 22.22%
Lib Dem  2 5.56%
  36 100.00%

Group Leaders will be meeting before this Full Council and any recommendations from them 
will be tabled at the meeting.

3. IMPLICATIONS

Legal Implications
It is a requirement of the Council’s Constitution that this is agreed each year or upon request 
following any changes

Financial Implications
None

Page 65

Agenda Item 12



Human Resources Implications
None

Sustainability/Biodiversity Implications
n/a

Equality/Diversity
n/a

Risk Management
n/a

Compliance with Policies and Strategies
It is a requirement of the Council’s Constitution that this is agreed each year or upon request 

Ward Member and Lead Member Views
n/a

4. CONCLUSIONS

It is a requirement of the Council’s Constitution that Full Council approve the number of 
seats on the Committees allocated to each of the Political Groups.  Group Leaders will be 
meeting to select Councillors who they would like allocated to each of our Committees from 
their Group and this will be tabled at the meeting.

5. RECOMMENDATIONS

Members are recommended to:

 Approve the number of seats on the Committees allocated to each of the Political 
Groups as detailed in this report

 Approve the Membership of each of the Council’s Committees 

Page 66



Document is Restricted

Page 67

Agenda Item 17
By virtue of paragraph(s) 7a of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.


	Agenda
	2 Council Minutes
	Minutes

	8 Northam Parish Neighbourhood Area Designation
	6a FC Northam Neighbourhood Area designation

	9 Annual Report on Treasury Management 16/17
	8a - Appendix 1 - Treasury Management Outturn 2016-17.v3

	10 RIPA Policy
	10a RIPA policy 2017 draft

	11 Transforming Torridge Programme - Progress Report
	11a Transforming Torridge Programme APPENDIX

	12 Allocation of Seats & Membership of Committees
	17 Regeneration of East-the-Water Wharves

